© Adis International Limited. All rights reserved

Anticonvulsants for Neuropathic Pain Syndromes

Mechanisms of Action and Place in Therapy

Ivo W. Tremont-Lukats, 1 Carla Megeff² and Misha-Miroslav Backonja 1

- 1 Neurology Department, University of Wisconsin, Madison, Wisconsin, USA
- 2 St Louis College of Pharmacy, St Louis, Missouri, USA

Contents

Abstract
1. Neuropathic Pain: Theoretical Background and Scientific Evidence
2. Methods Used in the Preparation of this Manuscript
3. Anticonvulsants for Treatment of Neuropathic Pain
3.1 Studied in Controlled Randomised Clinical Trials
3.1.1 Carbamazepine
3.1.2 Phenytoin
3.1.3 Benzodiazepines
3.1.4 Valproic Acid
3.1.5 Lamotrigine
3.1.6 Gabapentin
3.1.7 Topiramate
3.1.8 Pregabalin
3.2 Not Yet Studied in Controlled Randomised Clinical Trials
3.2.1 Phenobarbital
3.2.2 Felbamate
3.2.3 Vigabatrin, Zonisamide and Tiagabine
4. Future Directions
5. Conclusion and Recommendations

Abstract

Neuropathic pain, a form of chronic pain caused by injury to or disease of the peripheral or central nervous system, is a formidable therapeutic challenge to clinicians because it does not respond well to traditional pain therapies. Our knowledge about the pathogenesis of neuropathic pain has grown significantly over last 2 decades. Basic research with animal and human models of neuropathic pain has shown that a number of pathophysiological and biochemical changes take place in the nervous system as a result of an insult. This property of the nervous system to adapt morphologically and functionally to external stimuli is known as neuroplasticity and plays a crucial role in the onset and maintenance of pain symptoms. Many similarities between the pathophysiological phenomena observed in some epilepsy models and in neuropathic pain models justify the rational for use of anticonvulsant drugs in the symptomatic management of neuropathic pain disorders.

Carbamazepine, the first anticonvulsant studied in clinical trials, probably alleviates pain by decreasing conductance in Na⁺ channels and inhibiting ectopic discharges. Results from clinical trials have been positive in the treatment of trigeminal neuralgia, painful diabetic neuropathy and postherpetic neuralgia.

The availability of newer anticonvulsants tested in higher quality clinical trials has marked a new era in the treatment of neuropathic pain. Gabapentin has the most clearly demonstrated analgesic effect for the treatment of neuropathic pain, specifically for treatment of painful diabetic neuropathy and postherpetic neuralgia. Based on the positive results of these studies and its favourable adverse effect profile, gabapentin should be considered the first choice of therapy for neuropathic pain.

Evidence for the efficacy of phenytoin as an antinociceptive agent is, at best, weak to modest. Lamotrigine has good potential to modulate and control neuropathic pain, as shown in 2 controlled clinical trials, although another randomised trial showed no effect. There is potential for phenobarbital, clonazepam, valproic acid, topiramate, pregabalin and tiagabine to have antihyperalgesic and antinociceptive activities based on result in animal models of neuropathic pain, but the efficacy of these drugs in the treatment of human neuropathic pain has not yet been fully determined in clinical trials.

The role of anticonvulsant drugs in the treatment of neuropathic pain is evolving and has been clearly demonstrated with gabapentin and carbamazepine. Further advances in our understanding of the mechanisms underlying neuropathic pain syndromes and well-designed clinical trials should further the opportunities to establish the role of anticonvulsants in the treatment of neuropathic pain.

Neuropathic pain refers to a group of painful disorders characterised by pain due to dysfunction or disease of the nervous system at a peripheral level, a central level or both. In contrast to nociceptive pain, which results from the activation of pain receptors (nociceptors), neuropathic pain is the result of injury to the pain-conducting nervous system. Examples of neuropathic pain syndromes include postherpetic neuralgia (PHN), painful diabetic neuropathy (PDN), the complex regional pain syndrome (CPRS) and the central poststroke pain syndrome. Neuropathic pain is a complex entity with many symptoms and signs that fluctuate, in number and intensity, with time. Neuropathic pain responds poorly to traditional therapeutic approaches and to 'standard' doses of analgesics. All of these factors make most neuropathic pain syndromes a great challenge for clinicians. The heterogeneity of these pain syndromes and the lack of understanding of the underlying pathogenetic mecha-

nisms have made progress in treating neuropathic pain very slow.

Advances reported in clinical trials are slowly overcoming a nihilistic attitude towards the treatment of neuropathic pain. The development of animal models and consequent advances in our understanding of the basic pathophysiology of neuropathic pain have led to increased use of adjuvant analgesics in clinical trials and clinical practice. In particular, anticonvulsant drugs, which act on specific neurotransmitter receptors involved in the genesis and maintenance of hyperexcitability, are an important area of progress in the research and therapy of neuropathic pain.

In this article, we present the current experimental and clinical evidence regarding the use of anticonvulsants for the relief of neuropathic pain. This review concentrates on randomised controlled clinical trials, also taking into account information from nonblind trials and case series. However, the mechanisms underlying neuropathic pain that form a basis for understanding why and how anticonvulsants can be effective in the treatment of neuropathic pain syndromes is reviewed first.

1. Neuropathic Pain: Theoretical Background and Scientific Evidence

Pain in association with nerve trauma was well described over a century ago by W.S. Mitchell, but it was not until the reproduction of many symptoms of neuropathic pain in animal models that the mechanisms underlying neuropathic pain could be more directly investigated and better understood. [1,2] The pathophysiological mechanisms of neuropathic pain are presented in this section. Most of the information comes from animal studies since human studies of neuropathic pain mechanisms have not been performed consistently. However, the final proof for any mechanisms of human disorders has to come from controlled clinical trials and well-documented clinical experience.

Many diseases affecting the nervous system, ranging from injuries and metabolic disorders to infections and degenerative disorders, as a rule manifest with many types of pain symptoms and other positive phenomena such as paresthesiae and dysesthesiae. For neuropathic pain to manifest clinically, there is one prerequisite - classical thermonociceptive pathways, such as peripheral sensory small diameter nerves and the spinothalamic tract and its cerebral projections, have to be affected by the nervous system disease.[3] Examples of disorders manifesting with neuropathic pain include: (i) PHN; (ii) diabetic and other painful polyneuropathies; (iii) trauma to major nerve trunks; (iv) some types of pain related to cancer or its treatment; (v) disorders of the spinal cord such as multiple sclerosis and spinal cord injuries; and (vi) brainstem and hemispheric injuries and strokes. Any insult to the nervous system, be it physical injury or any disorder, leads to changes in its structure and function as a result of reparative processes. This state of altered properties of the nervous system is termed neuroplasticity. In patients with neuropathic pain, neuroplasticity takes the form of peripheral and central sensitisation, and the main characteristic is hyperexcitability.

The natural course of neuropathic pain disorders varies depending on their aetiology. However, all of them manifest with a very similar constellation of symptoms. The first type of neuropathic pain is spontaneous constant pain, which fluctuates in intensity and can change in character over time. The second type of pain comprises variable paroxysmal spontaneous attacks or exacerbations of pain, which are frequently very disturbing to the patients. The third type includes varying degrees of hypersensitivity to many external stimuli, such as touch, light bump or pressure, hot or cold temperatures, and even internal stimuli such as anxiety or excitement. Most of the neuropathic pain disorders manifest with any combination of these 3 types of pain. For example, a patient with PHN who has constant ongoing pain is further disabled because of mechanical hyperalgesia from clothing touching the affected skin. In contrast, a patient with central post-stroke pain in addition to ongoing pain and thermal cold hyperalgesia is very anxious about spontaneous paroxysmal attacks of pain that occur without any apparent pattern.

Experimental models of neuropathic pain have been developed in animals and in humans. The first model used in neuropathic pain research was the neuroma model in which post-traumatic neuromas arose as result of nerve transection.[4] This model is associated with many neuroplastic changes but it lacks the behavioural manifestation of hyperalgesia. The partial nerve injury models, such as loose ligature of the sciatic nerve, [2] partial nerve section,^[5] injury of spinal nerves,^[6] freezing of peripheral nerves^[7] and chemical irritation of peripheral nerves,[8] have allowed the discovery of the neurophysiological and biochemical processes leading to neuroplasticity, which also underlie the clinical manifestations of neuropathic pain. The most widely used human laboratory model is neurogenic inflammation, which is induced by the intradermal injection of capsaicin. [9] This model allows the investigation of the psychophysical and pharmacological characteristics of hyperalgesia.[10,11]

Traditionally, treatment for neuropathic pain disorders was primarily based on the aetiology of the particular disorder. With improved understanding of the mechanisms underlying pain phenomena, and regardless of the disorder that initiated the pain, the concept of developing treatment based on these mechanisms is evolving. The best characterised mechanisms are those underlying dynamic mechanical hyperalgesia (DMH) - pain from a light mechanical stimulus moving across the skin, such as when a cotton tip is dragged across the affected area. A clinical example of DMH pain is seen in patients with painful diabetic neuropathy who cry out when their feet are touched by bed sheets, and for whom any movement of the bed sheets prevents them from sleeping. This type of pain results from a complex of neuroplastic processes. However, the most significant event in such patients is the sensitisation of primary Aβ afferents, which demonstrate phenotypic switch, [12] and activation of the Nmethyl-D-aspartate (NMDA) receptors with wind-up and central sensitisation.[13-16] Phenotypic switch occurs when nonpain, large myelinated fibres that project primarily to lamina III start to express substance P receptors, which are specific to pain transmission at the dorsal horn. In addition, these large fibres extend their dendrites into lamina II, or the so-called substantia gelatinosa, which is involved in processing pain impulses. Wind-up refers to an increased responsiveness to noxious stimuli of pain-transmitting dorsal horn neurons with each subsequent stimulus, representing a form of hyperexcitability of these neurons. Central sensitisation is a final sum of many of the hyperexcitability physiological phenomena occurring at the dorsal horn level. The theory of DMH was also supported by a few clinical and human experimental studies.[17-19]

Other phenomena have been characterised to a reasonable extent, such as thermal heat hyperalgesia, which is caused by peripheral nociceptor sensitisation as well as central sensitisation. [20-22] Other pain phenomena appear to be more complex, for example thermal cold hyperalgesia in which the interaction of inhibitory processes with central

sensitisation plays a significant role.^[23] However, the most complex pain phenomenon is ongoing pain, and although many mechanisms have been proposed, such as the ectopic generation of impulses from primary afferents or the loss of central inhibition, there are probably many more mechanisms and processes that result in ongoing pain which are beyond our understanding at this time. The least well understood mechanisms are those underlying spontaneous paroxysms of pain.

Many pathophysiological processes have been observed in neuropathic pain models and if we were to catalogue the processes that have been described and implicated they would range from the cellular to the intranuclear level. At the cellular level, there is the formation of microneuromas and spontaneous ectopic generators, development of ephaptic transmission, and sensitivity to circulating catecholamines. In the neuronal cell membrane, there is the alteration of Na⁺ channels, Ca²⁺ channels and neurotransmitter systems including substance P, NMDA, γ-aminobutyric acid (GABA) and opioid systems. At the intracellular level, there is the activation of a number of second messenger cascades [with adenosine, protein kinase (PK) A and PKC being those best documented], and on the nuclear level, there is the activation of immediate early genes. At present, it is far from clear which of the events that characterise peripheral and central sensitisation has the initiating role and which has a primary predominant role in maintaining neuropathic pain in any given patient. It is most likely that more than one mechanism is responsible for the genesis and maintenance of chronic neuropathic pain. Despite the complexity of the processes demonstrated in neuropathic pain, an understanding of how peripheral and central sensitisation evolve would offer an opportunity to develop therapies that are most specific for the genesis and persistence of neuropathic pain. However, as stated at the beginning of this section, to demonstrate the validity of the mechanism-based concept in human clinical neuropathic pain syndromes, clinical trials would have to be conducted in which specific therapies are assessed for specific clinical pain phenomena.

There is a notable similarity between the pathophysiological and biochemical mechanisms observed in epilepsy and neuropathic pain. [24] What is remarkable is the pathophysiological similarity between wind-up, which is documented at the spinal cord dorsal horn neurons in models of neuropathic pain, and kindling of hippocampal neurons in epilepsy. Both wind-up and kindling appear to result from the activation of NMDA receptors, among other mechanisms.[11] The susceptibility of primary afferent and transmission neurons to the effects of sodium channel blockers in neuropathic pain models has been well recognised and is similar to the susceptibility observed in models of epilepsy. [25] Therefore, it should not be surprising that anticonvulsants can relieve and possibly modify the perception of neuropathic pain.

The conceptual and practical development of neuropathic pain models and the demonstration of neuroplasticity with the associated peripheral and central sensitisation mechanisms have so far been the most significant advances in pain research and therapy. There are many clinical implications resulting from these advances. Clinical evaluation can now be directed towards a more specific assessment and diagnosis of all neuropathic pain phenomena, each of which has its distinct underlying mechanisms. As a result of improved assessment and specific diagnosis, therapy specifically oriented towards the treatment of neuropathic pain can be administered based on those mechanisms. Certainly, the best possible treatment targeted towards the aetiology of underlying disease processes and any associated risk factors is necessary. For example, a patient with painful diabetic neuropathy needs their blood glucose level optimally controlled and any associated comorbidity, such as renal disease, optimally treated, while at the same time it should be possible to identify and treat any and all neuropathic pain symptoms. Treatment of pain symptoms is most likely to be successful if it is based on well-defined underlying pain mechanisms.

2. Methods Used in the Preparation of this Manuscript

This is primarily a descriptive review. The primary method of search was done using MEDLINE from 1960 to August 2000. We also searched using Current Contents and the Adis database. Articles published before 1960 were located with cross-reference articles. We also consulted standard neurology, pharmacology and epilepsy textbooks.

Controlled clinical trials were first identified and then tabulated. Attention was paid to the design and reporting of methods, outcomes and adverse effects. A similar procedure was used for the review and reporting of nonblind studies, case series, retrospective trials and reports of abstracts. Mechanisms of anticonvulsant drug action were also obtained from the review of literature and are presented. The main conclusions were made based on the results of controlled clinical trials but we have not neglected the importance of certain non-randomised studies.

3. Anticonvulsants for Treatment of Neuropathic Pain

Specific anticonvulsant agents are presented here in the order in which they were studied and reported in the literature. Anticonvulsants studied in controlled clinical trials are presented first, followed by a review of the remaining anticonvulsants.

3.1 Studied in Controlled Randomised Clinical Trials

3.1.1 Carbamazepine

Carbamazepine is an iminostilbene derivative chemically related to the tricyclic antidepressants. The effect of carbamazepine on pain suppression is probably mediated via central and peripheral mechanisms. In rabbits with bradykinin-induced trigeminal pain, carbamazepine suppressed neuronal responses in the subnucleus reticularis dorsalis and trigeminal subnucleus caudalis as measured by microelectrode recordings. [26] Carbamazepine also inhibited action potentials in the rat neuroma in spinal nerve ligation models, suggesting that its effective-

ness in neuropathic pain results from decreased sodium and potassium conductance and suppression of peripheral ectopic spontaneous activity. [27,28] The ability of carbamazepine to block ionic conductance appears to be frequency-dependent, which enables the drug to suppress the spontaneously active A δ and C fibres responsible for pain without affecting normal nerve conduction. [29,30]

Since Blom reported the analgesic properties of carbamazepine on patients with trigeminal neuralgia in 1962, [31,32] investigators have studied carbamazepine in lancinating tabetic pain, PHN, PDN and central pain syndromes. The analgesic efficacy of carbamazepine has been most frequently documented in trigeminal neuralgia and PDN. Analgesic reports in PHN, tabetic pain, and central pain are less well documented.

Eleven randomised clinical trials evaluating efficacy of carbamazepine in neuropathic pain have been published (table I). Three trials of carbamazepine in trigeminal neuralgia^[33,36,56] and 1 trial in various neuralgias including trigeminal neuralgia^[34] were double-blind, placebo-controlled, crossover trials that reported positive results compared with placebo. Response rates for carbamazepine in these studies ranged from 70 to 89% after 5 to 14 days of treatment. However, these results are overshadowed by many limitations in the study methodology. There were no washout periods to prevent a carry-over effect, [33,56] the use of concurrent interventions continued and there was a lack of reporting of the statistical analysis. [34,36] All of these shortcomings make it difficult to determine whether the data from these trials represent a specific and significant therapeutic effect of carbamazepine. Additionally, adverse effects of the active drug, such as drowsiness, dizziness, ataxia, nausea and vomiting, may have biased these studies.

Three double-blind trials have compared carbamazepine with active controls. [38-40] Carbamazepine was superior to tizanidine, an α_2 -adrenergic agonist in a small (n = 12) trial of 3 weeks' duration. [38] Carbamazepine produced similar pain relief compared with tocainide, an antiarrhythmic agent, in a 4-week crossover study with the same

number of patients. [39] In a larger study of 59 patients, carbamazepine was significantly less effective than pimozide, an antipsychotic agent, in relieving pain but pimozide had a high frequency (83%) of adverse effects. [40]

Three randomised trials evaluating carbamazepine in PDN used double-blind, crossover techniques; 2 studies had placebo controls^[35,37] and 1 study used an active control arm with nortriptyline and fluphenazine.^[42] In one of these trials, ^[35] carbamazepine demonstrated symptomatic relief of pain and paresthesiae in 28 out of 30 patients after 2 weeks of therapy; however, carry-over effects occurred during placebo administration and no statistical analysis was performed. Wilton^[37] reported that carbamazepine had a superior analgesic effect versus placebo in one arm of a crossover study, but not in the arm prior to crossover. Unfortunately, analysis of the combined results was not performed. When carbamazepine was compared with the tricyclic-neuroleptic combination, [42] there were significant improvements from baseline with both therapies but no difference between the treatment arms. Although adverse effects more frequent with the nortriptyline-fluphenazine combination, no statistical analysis was performed to detect differences between the two arms.

There is less well documented clinical evidence supporting the effectiveness of carbamazepine in PHN. In an 8-week trial, Gerson et al.[57] compared carbamazepine and clomipramine with transcutaneous electrical nerve stimulation (TENS) in 29 patients. Blinding was not possible because of the nature of the study. In a combined analysis of available data, including patients who crossed over treatments, carbamazepine plus clomipramine provided better pain relief. The clinical weight of this study is questionable given the number of dropouts relative to the sample size (see table II). Since clomipramine is chemically related to tricyclic antidepressants, it may have confounded the real contribution of carbamazepine in this trial.[47,77-80] More recently, in a small trial, carbamazepine was shown to be as effective as gabapentin in carpal tunnel syndrome.[81] These findings may be impor-

Table I. Completed and fully published randomised trials of anticonvulsant drugs in patients with neuropathic pain^a

Study	Pain disorder	No. of patients	Design	Treatment	Outcomes	Results	Adverse effects
Carbamazepine (C	BZ)						
Campbell et al. ^[33]	Trigeminal neuralgia	77	PC CO	CBZ up to 400 mg/day -> CO; no washout; total duration 8wk	Pain severity, number of paroxysms per day, effect on triggers	CBZ better than placebo to improve pain and lessen number of paroxysms	7/77 withdrew
Killian & Fromm ^[34]	Various neuralgias (trigeminal, post-herpetic, tabetic, atypical facial)	42	PC CO	CBZ 400-1000 mg/day vs placebo \times 5 days then CO \times 5 days; open trial for 36 months	Pain relief (complete, very good, fair, no response)	36/42 pts were double- blinded; CBZ better than placebo in trigeminal neuralgia only	4 withdrawals; vertigo (47%) drowsiness (17%)
Rull et al. ^[35]	Diabetic neuropathy	30	PC CO DB	CBZ or placebo 600 mg/day × 2wk then CO × 2wk; total duration 6wk; no washout	Patient self-report of pain intensity	28/30 had relief; CBZ better than placebo	2 withdrawals (rash); somnolence (50%), dizziness (40%) and gait disturbance (13%) were the most common adverse effects
Nicol ^[36]	Trigeminal neuralgia	54	PC DB partial CO	CBZ 100-2400 mg/day then CO × 46mo	Post-treatment global rating	CBZ better than placebo	2/37 withdrawals; adverse effects were drowsiness and staggering gait
Wilton ^[37]	Diabetic neuropathy	40	DB PC CO	CBZ or placebo 600 mg/day \times 1wk, 2wk washout then CO \times 1wk	Patient self-report, investigator global assessment	CBZ better than placebo after CO (p < 0.01)	25 patients reported adverse effects while on CBZ but without interfering with treatment
Vilming et al. ^[38]	Trigeminal neuralgia	12	DB P	CBZ titrated up to 900 mg/day vs tizanidine 3-6 mg/day \times 21 days	Pain intensity, pain relief	4/6 pts with CBZ rated drug as very good against 1/6 with tizanidine)	No withdrawals in CBZ arm
Lindstrom & Lindblom ^[39]	Trigeminal neuralgia	12	DB CO PC	CBZ at MTD vs tocainide 20 mg/kg/day \times 2wk then CO \times 2wk	Severity, frequency and duration of attacks	CBZ had same efficacy as tocainide; both were better than placebo	None reported with CBZ
Lechin et al. ^[40]	Trigeminal neuralgia	59	MC DB PC	CBZ 300-1200 mg/day vs 4- 12 mg/day then placebo, washout and CO × 24wk total	Trigeminal neuralgia symptom score	Pimozide better than CBZ	40/48 with pimozide, 21/48 on CBZ; 11 excluded pts (protocol deviation and loss to follow-up)
Leijon & Boivie ^[41]	Central poststroke pain	15	PC DB CO	CBZ 800 mg/day vs amitriptyline 75 mg/day vs placebo × 4wk; 1wk washout before CO	Pain severity, post-treatment global ratings, comprehensive psychological rating scale	CBZ no better than placebo	1 withdrawal on CBZ; CBZ dose had to be decreased in 4 pts

Anticonvulsants for Neuropathic Pain

Table I. Contd

Study	Pain disorder	No. of patients	Design	Treatment	Outcomes	Results	Adverse effects
Gomez-Perez et al. ^[42]	Diabetic neuropathy	16	DB CO	CBZ 300-600 mg/day vs nortriptyline 30-60 mg/day vs fluphenazine 1.5-3.0 mg/day × 4wk; 2-4wk washout, then CO	Pain and paresthesia intensity (VAS)	Reduction of pain and paresthesias with CBZ, 50% improvement over baseline; no difference between therapies	2 withdrawals
Phenytoin (PHT)							
Saudek et al. ^[43]	Diabetic neuropathy	30	PC CO	PHT 300 mg/day titrated against plasma concentrations × 23wk; placebo × 23wk	Pain intensity	No difference between treatment and placebo	10% had giddiness
Chadda & Mathur ^[44]	Diabetic neuropathy	40	PC CO	PHT 300 mg/day × 2wk; placebo × 2wk; PHT 300 mg/day × 2wk	Pain intensity	74% had moderate improvement with PHT vs 26% with placebo	4/38 reported giddiness, 2 drop-outs
Yajnik et al. ^[45]	Cancer pain	75	DB P	PHT 200 mg/day vs buprenorphine 0.4 mg/day vs PHT 100 mg/day + buprenorphine 0.2 mg/day	Pain intensity	Combined treatment better than PHT or buprenorphine alone; no statistical significance	8% of pts on PHT had headache and giddiness
McCleane ^[46]	Different types of peripheral neuropathic pain experiencing acute flare-ups		DB PC CO	PHT 15 mg/kg iv infusion or placebo then CO after 1wk	Total pain, shooting pain, burning pain, numbness, paresthesias with VAS every 15 min during infusion and od × 1wk	Significant reduction in hyperalgesia, numbness, overall, burning and shooting pain during PHT infusion; analgesic effect was evident up to 5 days after infusion for shooting pain	All had lightheadedness at the end of infusion with PHT; there was also nausea (4 pts) and skin rash (2 pts)
Lorazepam							
Max et al. ^[47]	Postherpetic neuralgia	58	DB CO	Lorazepam 0.5-6 mg/day vs amitriptyline 12.5-150 mg/day vs placebo	Pain intensity	Lorazepam no better than placebo and significantly less effective than amitriptyline	4 pts had severe depression

Valproic acid (VP	'A)						
Drewes et al. ^[48]	Central pain after spinal cord injury	20	PC DB CO	VPA or placebo 600mg po bid \times 3wk; 2wk washout, then CO \times 3wk	Pain intensity with Danish version of MPQ	No difference between placebo and VPA	4 pts receiving VPA had dizziness
Lamotrigine (LTG	3)						
Zakrzewska et al. ^[49]	Refractory trigeminal neuralgia	14	PC CO	LTG escalated from 50 mg/day to 400 mg/day during 14 days placebo × 14 days; all patients were taking PHT, CBZ or both	Pain intensity	LTG better than placebo (p = 0.001)	7/13 reported dizziness, constipation, nausea, somnolence, diplopia
Simpson et al. ^[50]	HIV- associated painful sensory polyneuropathy	42	DB, PC, P	LTG 25 mg/day titrated up to 300 mg/day × 14wk	Change in mean pain score on a Gracely pain scale	LTG better than placebo (p = 0.03)	5 reported skin rash; high dropout rate (13/42)
McCleane ^[51]	Intractable neuropathic pain	100	PC DB PC	LTG escalated from 25 to 200 mg/day for a total of 8wk	Pain intensity, change in pain quality, QoL, sleep, mood, number of additional analgesic tablets required	No difference between LTG and placebo in any of the outcome measurements	26 pts did not complete the study; nausea (8 pts), skin rash (2 pts), bad taste of tablets (2 pts), no pain relief (6 pts) and loss to follow-up (8 pts)
Gabapentin (GBF	?)						
Backonja et al. ^[52]	Diabetic neuropathy	165	PC P MC	GBP 900 up to 3600 mg/day \times 4wk, then MTD \times 4wk	Pain severity, sleep interference, post-treatment global ratings, QoL	Less pain and less sleep interference with GBP (p < 0.001); QoL also improved more with GBP	No difference in withdrawal rate between GBP and placebo; dizziness (23.8%) and somnolence (22.6%) most frequent adverse effects
Rowbotham et al. ^[53]	Postherpetic neuralgia	229	PC P MC	GBP 1200 up to 3600 mg/day × 8wk	Pain severity, sleep interference, post-treatment global ratings, QoL	GBP better than placebo to relieve pain (p < 0.001) and improve sleep (p < 0.001); QoL also better	Slightly higher withdrawal rate in GBP arm (13.3%) than in placebo arm (9.5%); somnolence (27.6%), dizziness (23.9%) and peripheral oedema (9.7%) were the most common adverse effects
Morello et al. ^[54]	Diabetic peripheral neuropathy	28	DB CO	GBP (900-1800 mg/day) or amitriptyline 25-75 mg/day × 6wk, then 1wk washout, then CO	Pain relief measured by pain scale with verbal descriptors Global Pain Score assessment at the end of trial	No significant difference between GBP and amitriptyline	7 withdrawals (3 from adverse effects)

a The trial by Webb and Kamali^[55] is not included in this table as it was in healthy volunteers.

CO = crossover; DB = double-blinded study; MTD = maximum tolerated dose; MPQ = McGill Pain Questionnaire; mo = months; od = once daily; P = parallel; PC = placebo-control; pts = patients; QoL = quality of life; VAS = visual analogue scale; wk = weeks.

Anticonvulsants for Neuropathic Pain

tant in the treatment of entrapment neuropathies, especially in those patients who do not wish to under go surgery or who do not qualify for surgery.

In summary, carbamazepine demonstrated efficacy in neuropathic pain in early studies, and this has since been confirmed in better designed trials. All of the studies in which carbamazepine was compared with placebo showed pain relief, lower pain ratings or both for patients with trigeminal neuralgia.[33,34,36] Carbamazepine also demonstrated efficacy in relieving pain in patients with PDN in 3 out of 3 studies.[35,37,42] In 1 study, central poststroke pain was relieved with carbamazepine in a number of patients but this was not statistically significant, [41] probably because of the small sample size, whereas amitriptyline provided statistically significant pain relief in the same number of patients. Dosages of carbamazepine used in these studies ranged from 300 to 2400mg per day in divided doses. Withdrawal rate due to adverse effects ranged from 0 to 11%, and many patients (up to 50%) experienced tolerable adverse effects such as somnolence, dizziness and gait disturbance. In earlier studies, haematopoietic issues were addressed but no patients were excluded because of those effects of carbamazepine. Dizziness and somnolence were the most frequent tolerable adverse effects.

3.1.2 Phenytoin

Phenytoin became the first anticonvulsant to be used to treat neuropathic pain after Bergouignan^[82] reported success with phenytoin in patients with trigeminal neuralgia.^[82,83] Current data indicate that the analgesic effect of phenytoin is achieved through the blockage of Na⁺ channels, inhibition of presynaptic glutamate release and suppression of spontaneous neuronal ectopic discharges.^[84] Like phenobarbital, phenytoin reduces autotomy in rats with dorsal rhizotomy.^[85] Nevertheless, intraperitoneal phenytoin was ineffective in suppressing cold and tactile allodynia in two neuropathic pain animal models.^[86]

To date, only 5 randomised clinical trials of phenytoin have been published: 2 trials on PDN, [43,44] 1 on cancer pain, [45] 1 in healthy volunteers with cold-induced pain [55] and 1 trial in pa-

tients with flare-ups of neuropathic pain. [46] The 2 studies conducted on PDN yielded opposite results. This difference in results could be due to the differences in study design, including sample size, length of follow-up and, most importantly, lack of statistical power to detect differences between placebo and phenytoin (table I). McQuay et al.[87] estimated that the number of patients needed to treat, that is, the number of patients with that pain condition needed to treat to obtain clinical benefit from phenytoin, was within the range similar to other anticonvulsants.[87] This number is very likely to be higher since the data from the negative trial were not available to estimate a global number of patients needed to treat. Case series and reports on the use of phenytoin to treat different neuropathic pain conditions abound (table III).

Phenytoin showed weak to moderate analgesic action in a randomised controlled trial comparing phenytoin alone with buprenorphine and with phenytoin plus buprenorphine in cancer pain. [45] Although the authors did not specify whether pain in these patients was of neuropathic origin, it has been documented a large proportion of patients with cancer pain have a neuropathic pain component through different direct or indirect pathogenetic mechanisms. [120] This trial had its limitations but it points to the need for additional trials using anticonvulsants as adjuvants in treating cancer pain.

Recent data have appeared supporting the hypothesis that phenytoin has antinociceptive properties in humans. A randomised trial using a laboratory model of cold pain comparing lamotrigine, phenytoin and dihydrocodeine in healthy volunteers showed that a single dose of phenytoin 300mg was significantly more effective than placebo in alleviating pain induced by cold.[55] Maximum pain relief for phenytoin was 4.25 hours after administration and this analgesic effect correlated well with plasma concentrations. In a randomised, placebo-controlled trial in 20 patients with different types of peripheral neuropathic pain, an intravenous dose of phenytoin 15 mg/kg given was significantly more effective than phenobarbital in reducing acute exacerbations of neuropathic pain. [46]

Drugs 2000 Nov; 60 (5)

Table II. Selected nonblind trials and case series with anticonvulsants for neuropathic pain^a

Study	Pain condition	No. of patients	Treatment	Outcome measures	Results	Adverse effects/withdrawals
Carbamazepine (CB	Z)					
Spillane ^[58]	Trigeminal neuralgia	57	CBZ 600 mg/day × 2wk	Paroxysms of pain	50% had 'good' response, 31% had 'fair' response, 1% had ongoing paroxysms, 1% no benefit	5 pts excluded at beginning of study (no pain); 25% had giddiness, nausea, emesis or anorexia
Raskin et al. ^[59]	Post- sympathectomy neuralgia	9	CBZ 600 mg/day × 24h	Pain report	7/9 had 'dramatic reduction in pain' within 24h 1/9 had no relief; 2/9 also had intravenous PHT 250mg	NA
Chakrabarti & Sawantaray ^[60]	Diabetic Neuropathy	62	CBZ 300-800 mg/day × 1y	Self-reported pain relief, NCV	49/54 had relief of symptoms, 5/54 had no change; NCV studies unchanged	8 pts omitted from analysis: 2 drop-outs (rash and postural hypotension), 6 drop-outs (noncompliance with follow-up); drowsiness (33%), dizziness (22%), nausea (7%), vomiting (4%), ataxia (4%)
Gerson et al. ^b [⁵⁷]	Postherpetic neuralgia	29	CBZ 150-1000 mg/day plus clomipramine 10-75 mg/day vs TENS × 8wk	Pain, physical activity, mental outlook with VAS	CBZ plus imipramine gave superior pain relief compared with TENS (p < 0.05); no difference in physical activity or mental outlook	5 pts lost to follow-up (3 drug, 2 TENS); 4 pts crossed over to TENS from CBZ because of ineffective treatment: 2 with success; 8 pts crossed over to drug, 3 with success; 1 withdrawal due to adverse effect (not revealed)
Tomson et al. ^{c [61]}	Trigeminal neuralgia	7	CBZ 200-1400 mg/day \times 6 days	Pain scores, plasma concentration of CBZ and epoxide metabolite	Best outcome with serum range 5.7-10.1 μ g/ml; no plasma concentration-effect in 6 pts	Adverse effects occurred with serum concentrations >7.9 μg/ml; only assessed degree of 'dizziness'
Taylor et al. ^[62]	Trigeminal neuralgia	143	CBZ 300-1600 mg/day × unknown initial time; 5-16y long term; PHT, amitriptyline, diazepam and simple analgesics permitted	NA	CBZ was 'effective, initially' in 69%; 19 pts relapsed (average 4y) after starting treatment, 8 pts intolerant to drug, 36 pts no benefit	8 pts with adverse effects: 6 rash, 1 nausea/vomiting 1 water intoxication
Valproic acid (VPA)						
Peiris et al. ^[63]	Trigeminal neuralgia	20	VPA 600 mg/day up to 1200 mg/day	Number of attacks	9/20 had no attacks for at least 6mo or had 50% reduction in attack rates	1/20 pts had persistent nausea
Swerdlow & Cundill ^[64]	Various chronic pain conditions	51	VPA unknown dose and duration	Pain intensity	20/51 (39%) reported pain relief	NA

Anticonvulsants for Neuropathic Pain

Table II. Contd

Study	Pain condition	No. of patients	Treatment	Outcome measures	Results	Adverse effects/withdrawals
Clonazepam						
Caccia ^[65]	Facial neuralgia	10	Clonazepam 8 mg/day gradually decreasing to 4 mg/day	Pain relief	Complete pain relief in 5/10 (all with trigeminal neuralgia), partial relief in 4 pts	Marked drowsiness in 8/10 pts
Court & Kase ^[66]	Trigeminal neuralgia	25	Clonazepam 1mg bid to tid with titration to 6-8 mg/day × 10 days	Number of paroxysms, impression on pain severity	40% complete pain relief, 23% partial relief	Somnolence in 22/25 pts, unsteady gait in 20/25 pts
Smirne & Scarlato ^[67]	Trigeminal neuralgia, glossopharyngeal neuralgia, Sluder's syndrome	21 I	Clonazepam 1.5-6 mg/day × 11-195 days	Pain, no measurement scales mentioned	Effective in preventing pain attacks in 64% of pts	12/21 pts had drowsiness or fatigue
Swerdlow & Cundill ^[64]	Various chronic pain conditions	35	Clonazepam 0.5-1.0 mg/day slowly titrated	Pain intensity	23/35 (66%) reported good pain relief	NA
Bouckhoms & Lit- man ^[68]	Deafferentiation neuralgias	21	Clonazepam 1-4 mg/day; duration NA	Pain by patient report and clinical assessment, no measurement scales mentioned	Complete or nearly complete pain relief in 6/21; all of these pts had allodynia	Drowsiness (number of pts not reported)
Gabapentin (GBP) Rosenberg et al. ^{d [69]}	Neuropathic pain, low back myofascial pain	Low back myofascial pain = 122 Neuropathic pain = 97	GBP 600-2400 mg/day	Pain severity, opiate use	Decreased pain from baseline (p < 0.0001); 53% reduction in pain severity in PHN (p = 0.004); opiate use unchanged	Sedation (12.8%), dizziness (8.0%) and gastrointestinal complaints (8%) were most common
Attal et al. ^[70]	Refractory mixed neuropathic pain syndromes	23	GBP 600-2400 mg/day × 6wk	Severity/frequency of pain attacks, thresholds to nociceptive stimuli	38% reduction in pain severity from baseline (p < 0.01); reduction in frequency of pain attacks (p < 0.001); no change in nociceptive thresholds	3 pts withdrew due to adverse effects; choreoathetotic movements (1), intense sedation, hypotonia and fatique (2)
Solaro et al. ^[71]	Paroxysmal symptoms in multiple sclerosis	21	GBP 300-1200 mg/day \times 3mo	Primary outcome: amelioration of symptoms	18/21 achieved main outcome; no dose-concentration correlation observed	3 pts withdrew: poor compliance (2) and severe nausea (1)
Lamotrigine (LTG)						
Canavero & Bonicalzi ^[72]	Trigeminal neuralgia	21	LTG 50 mg/day to effect; duration NA	Pain relief	With a median dose of 400 mg/day, 80% had complete pain relief	Skin rash (21%), sedation (9%), confusion or vertigo
Lunardi et al. ^[73]	Trigeminal neuralgia	20	LTG 25-400 mg/day	Pain intensity	16/20 had complete relief, continuing up to 8mo after end of study	1/20 had skin rash; no other adverse effects reported

Landscape table II to be placed here.

The antinociceptive effects of phenytoin were observed during the infusion of the drug and were still significant for the relief of shooting pain 4 days after the infusion. These findings raise the issue of whether patients should receive a loading dose of phenytoin, and similarly with other anticonvulsants, to derive maximum analgesic effects.

In summary, phenytoin is an anticonvulsant that was studied in early clinical trials for pain control, but the first randomised study in 1977 demonstrated that phenytoin was no more effective than placebo. [43] Another study, one year later, showed that phenytoin was more effective than placebo. [44] The dosage used in both studies was 300mg per day and the rate of adverse effects was around 10% in both trials. A common adverse effect was giddiness. Additional information has been published supporting the use of phenytoin as an analgesic or co-analgesic drug. [45,46,55]

3.1.3 Benzodiazepines

Lorazepam, clonazepam and nitrazepam have been used to control neuropathic pain. Benzodiazepines are GABA agonists that have analgesic properties in the spinal cord and brainstem of animal models.[121] In rats with chronic constriction injury to the sciatic nerve, clonazepam significantly normalised the nociceptive threshold in the iniured paw.[122] A nonblind clinical study initially suggested that intravenous lorazepam relieved intractable chronic neuralgia^[123] but these results were not reproduced in a randomised, double-blind trial in which lorazepam was significantly less effective than amitriptyline in PHN.[47] In addition, 4 patients in the latter study developed severe depression while receiving lorazepam.^[47] Swerdlow^[83] used nitrazepam in 11 patients with chronic pain, with satisfactory relief in 6 of them.^[83] There have been no more reports on nitrazepam to support these preliminary results.

The use of clonazepam in trigeminal neuralgia began as early as the mid-1970s, when 7 out of 10 patients receiving a high dose (10 mg/day) reported complete or adequate pain relief. This initial report was followed by another in which clonazepam 6 to 8 mg/day for 10 days provided

Eisenberg et al. ^[74]	Diabetic neuropathy	15	LTG 25 mg/day, doubled weekly up to 400 mg/day \times 6wk; then washout \times 2wk	Pain intensity with VAS, MPQ, NPS and QTT	Significant drop in pain intensity with VAS, MPQ, NPS, but not QTT	2/15 withdrew because of adverse effects
Cianchetti et al. ^[75]	Different painful phenomena in multiple sclerosis	21	LTG 25 mg/day with 25- 50mg weekly increments up to a total dosage of 400 mg/day	Pain intensity and degree of improvement	Mild to total improvement in 13/21 pts; sustained relief > 1y in 11 pts	No adverse effects reported
Topiramate						
Potter et al. ^{[76]e}	Neuropathic pain syndromes excluding diabetic neuropathy	14	Topiramate titrated weekly in 25-50mg increments until pain relief or highest tolerated dose achieved × 1-6mo; mean dosage used 271 mg/day	Pain intensity on a VAS	Significant improvement of pain scores vs baseline (p < 0.0001)	Not mentioned

a For studies with phenytoin see table III.

MPQ = McGill Pain Questionnaire; NA = data not available; NCV = nerve conduction velocity; NPS = numeric pain scale; PHN = postherpetic neuralgia; QTT = quantitative thermal testing; TENS = transcutaneous electrical nerve stimulation.

Anticonvulsants for Neuropathic Pain

b Randomised.

c Single-blind.

d Retrospective chart review.

e Presented as an abstract.

Table III. Summary of the most relevant trials and reports in the literature using anticonvulsants for different pain situations

Disease	Randomised controlled trials with positive results	Non-blind	Case series/reports
Diabetic neuropathy	Carbamazepine ^[35,37,42] Phenytoin ^[44] Gabapentin ^[52]	Carbamazepine ^[60] Phenytoin ^[88] Gabapentin ^[89] Lamotrigine ^[74]	
Trigeminal neuralgia	Carbamazepine ^[33,34,36] Lamotrigine ^[49]	Carbamazepine ^[31,32,56,58,62,90-95] Phenytoin ^[31,32,96-98] Gabapentin ^[100] Lamotrigine ^[73] Clonazepam ^[67,90] Valproic acid ^[90,63]	Clonazepam ^[65,66] Felbamate ^[99]
Postherpetic neuralgia, postsympathectomy neuralgia, deafferentation neuralgias	Carbamazepine ^[34] Gabapentin ^[53]	Carbamazepine ^[57,59] Phenytoin ^[59] Clonazepam ^[68]	
HIV polyneuropathy	Lamotrigine ^[50]	Gabapentin ^[101,102]	
Experimental neuropathic pain	Phenytoin ^[55] Lamotrigine ^[55]		
Phantom-limb pain			Carbamazepine ^[103] Lamotrigine ^[104] Clonazepam ^[105]
Paroxysmal pain in multiple sclerosis ^a		Gabapentin ^[71]	Carbamazepine ^[106,107] Gabapentin ^[108] Lamotrigine ^[109]
Neuropathic pain syndromes (including cancer pain and reflex sympathetic dystrophy)	Phenytoin ^[45]	Carbamazepine ^[64,92] Phenytoin ^[64] Gabapentin ^[70,115] Valproic acid ^[64] Clonazepam ^[64] Topiramate ^[76]	Phenytoin ^[110] Gabapentin ^[69,111-114]
Central poststroke pain		Carbamazepine ^[92]	Carbamazepine ^[116] Phenytoin ^[117-119]

complete or adequate relief to 63% of 25 patients with trigeminal neuralgia, of whom 16 had previously failed carbamazepine. [66] Subsequent trials used lower dosages ranging from 1 to 6 mg/day with similar or better success. [64,67,90] In a series of 21 patients with deafferentation neuralgia, only 6 responded to clonazepam 1 to 4mg at bedtime. All responders had allodynia as a common feature and the investigators suggested that allodynia was a good predictor of response to clonazepam. [68] Despite these data, there have been no randomised controlled trials of clonazepam in neuropathic pain.

In summary, lorazepam, the only benzodiazepine submitted to controlled clinical trials, failed to demonstrate analgesic properties.

3.1.4 Valproic Acid

Valproic acid inhibits sustained neuronal firing in murine cortical and spinal neurons. This effect is mediated by prolonging repolarisation of voltage-activated Na⁺ channels. Moreover, valproic acid increases the amount of GABA in the brain, enhancing the activity of glutamic acid decarboxylase and inhibiting GABA degradation enzymes.^[25] In the rat hippocampus, valproic acid increases the GABA inhibitory postsynaptic potential (IPSP) slope by more than 50%.^[124] Several other investigators have shown that valproic acid has an antinociceptive effect in the mouse hot-plate assay and in the acetic acid writhing test.^[125-127] Valproic acid binds GABA_A receptors and decreases the ex-

pression of c-fos after the irritation of meningeal and trigeminal afferent fibres, suggesting that its nociceptive action is mediated partly by GABA_A binding. [128,129] Despite all of this evidence, there is no clear agreement on the analgesic or antinociceptive properties of valproic acid. In one study, valproic acid enhanced the antinociceptive effect of morphine but, alone, it did not have any effect on heat-induced pain in mice. [130]

The first reports about the use of valproic acid in neuropathic pain appeared in the early 1980s. In these studies, valproic acid relieved pain in 50 to 80% of patients with trigeminal neuralgia. [63,90] Many patients in the case series studied by Peiris et al.[63] had already been treated with carbamazepine, phenytoin and clonazepam alone or in combination. Swerdlow^[64] gave valproic acid to 79 patients with lancinating pain due to different causes, obtaining satisfactory pain relief in 37% of them. Satisfaction was gauged using self-reporting and daily pain charts. Finally, patients with PHN and tabes dorsalis reported pain relief with valproic acid.[131,132] Taken together, these data show promise for valproic acid in the treatment of neuropathic pain. Unfortunately, the only double-blind, placebo-controlled trial of valproic acid published so far for treatment of neuropathic pain due to spinal cord injury showed no difference between valproic acid and placebo (see table I).^[48] This study was well designed but its negative result can be explained partly by the small number of patients, a fact acknowledged by the authors of the study. At present, the precise role of valproic acid in the treatment of neuropathic pain has not been determined and additional randomised trials are still necessary to document the possible effect of valproic acid for neuropathic pain due to peripheral disorders such as diabetic painful neuropathy.

3.1.5 Lamotrigine

Lamotrigine is a phenyltriazine derivative and one of the newer antiepileptic agents initially approved in the US as add-on therapy for partial complex seizures. Lamotrigine blocks voltage-dependent Na⁺ channels with the inhibition of glutamate release.^[133] Oral lamotrigine induced dose-

dependent analgesia in rat experimental models of acute and chronic pain without observable adverse effects.[134,135] Using different chronic pain models in the rat, Hunter et al.[86] showed that lamotrigine could reverse cold allodynia for over 5 hours, although it could not reverse tactile allodynia. Klamt^[136] used similar experimental pain models to those used by Nakamura^[134,135] and Hunter^[86] but he administered intrathecal lamotrigine at 12.5, 25 and 100µg, finding that intrathecal lamotrigine produced a spinal, dose-dependent and lasting antihyperalgesic effect in these models. The administration of lamotrigine immediately after transection of the sciatic nerve in rats drastically moderated the development of neuropathic pain and also markedly decreased the number of autotomies, suggesting a potential prophylactic role in preventing or modulating the onset and course of pain.[137]

At the same time these data were derived from translational research, lamotrigine began to be used empirically for chronic and refractory pain conditions. In a case report, lamotrigine given at doses between 50 and 150mg orally twice daily controlled phantom limb pain in 3 patients. [104] A single dose of lamotrigine 300mg given orally to 12 healthy volunteers with cold-induced allodynia was significantly better at relieving pain than placebo, with maximum pain relief at 1.25 hours after administration. [55] Other nonblind studies in patients with trigeminal neuralgia, PDN and pain related to multiple sclerosis reported good results with lamotrigine. [72-75]

A clinical trial comparing lamotrigine with placebo in patients with trigeminal neuralgia found that lamotrigine was clearly better than placebo (see table I). [49] Another clinical trial with 42 HIV1-positive patients with PDN showed that lamotrigine 25 to 300 mg/day was more effective than placebo in reducing pain intensity, although the high withdrawal rate limited the usefulness of this trial. [50] Not all trials have yielded positive results; lamotrigine given at dosages up to 200 mg/day for 8 weeks was no better than placebo in a randomised,

double-blind, placebo-controlled study of 100 patients with neuropathic pain.^[51]

In summary, lamotrigine 50 to 400 mg/day has demonstrated efficacy in relieving pain in patients with trigeminal neuralgia refractory to other treatments, such as carbamazepine, phenytoin or both, which were continued for the duration of the study. [49] Seven out of 13 patients experienced tolerable adverse effects: dizziness, constipation, nausea, somnolence and diplopia. Good experimental and clinical evidence warrants the use of lamotrigine in the other painful conditions, but recent negative results from a clinical trial indicated that more well-designed trials are needed to better define the role of lamotrigine as an analgesic drug.

3.1.6 Gabapentin

Of the new generation of antiepileptic drugs used for treatment of neuropathic pain, gabapentin is perhaps the best agent studied so far. It was developed as a structural GABA analogue but it has no direct GABAergic action and it does not affect GABA uptake or metabolism.^[25] Gabapentin blocks the tonic phase of nociception induced by formalin and carrageenan, and it exerts a potent inhibitory effect in several neuropathic pain models of mechanical hyperalgesia, mechanical allodynia, thermal hyperalgesia and thermo-allodynia.[138,139] Preliminary evidence points to the possible effect of gabapentin on the α -2- δ type of Ca²⁺ channels^[138] Whereas some investigators have shown that gabapentin appears to have a central and not a peripheral anti-allodynic effect,[140] others have found that gabapentin inhibited the ectopic discharge activity from injured nerves^[138,141] and reversed the allodynia induced by anti-GD2 antibodies.[142] Although gabapentin does not have direct effects on GABA or its receptors, a magnetic resonance imaging spectroscopy study documented a global increase in GABA after the administration of gabapentin.[143]

There have been positive results in several openlabel studies investigating the effect of gabapentin on different pain conditions, including trigeminal neuralgia and painful tonic spasms associated with multiple sclerosis,^[71,108,144] reflex sympathetic dystrophy,^[111] painful HIV-related peripheral neuropathy,^[101] and neuropathic cancer pain (tables II and III).^[115]

Two large randomised clinical trials have established the efficacy of gabapentin for relief from neuropathic pain in patients with PDN and PHN^[52,53,145] (table I). Both studies used a placebocontrolled parallel design with a large number of patients, and an intent-to-treat method of analysis was used. In the study of 165 patients with PDN, [52] most (80%) were able to escalate the dosage over 2 weeks, from 900 to 3600 mg/day in 3 divided doses. Pain relief was observed during the second week after the dosage reached 1800 mg/day. Pain relief was maintained after a further dose increase and for the duration of the 8-week study. In the study of 229 patients with PHN,^[53] almost identical results were documented. The comprehensive design of these studies allowed for associated symptoms to be assessed; not only was pain relieved but patients had improvements in sleep and mood as well as some measures of quality of life.[52,53,145] The design of these 2 studies has set new standards for clinical trials in neuropathic pain.

In a rare comparative study, the analgesic efficacy of gabapentin was compared with amitriptyline for PDN pain (see table I).^[54] In this double-blind, randomised, crossover trial, 21 out of 25 enrolled patients completed 13 weeks of treatment with a week washout period between two 6-week treatments. There was no significant difference in analgesic efficacy between gabapentin and amitriptyline and the adverse effects for both drugs were similar except that more patients receiving amitriptyline (6 versus 0 receiving gabapentin) had bodyweight gain. An extension of this trial has been recently published in full with identical results and conclusions. ^[54]

At least 1 clinical trial has failed to show any significant difference between gabapentin and placebo in patients with PDN.^[146] A possible explanation for this lies in the use of a relatively low dosage of gabapentin (900 mg/day without titration). In this regard, another clinical trial of gabapentin versus placebo in only 25 patients with

Table IV. Randomised trials of newer anticonvulsant drugs in neuropathic pain published as abstracts

Authors	Pain condition	No. of patients	Design	Treatment	Outcome measures	Results	Adverse effects/ withdrawals
Gorson et al. ^[146]	Diabetic neuropathy	40	DB, PC, CO	GBP 900 mg/day vs PB × 6wk, 1wk washout, then CO × 6wk	Pain intensity, post-treatment global ratings	No difference between GBP and PB	NA
Morello et al. ^[147]	Diabetic neuropathy	25	DB, PC, CO	GBP 900-1800 mg/day vs amitriptyline 25-75 mg/day	Pain intensity, post-treatment global rating	19 pts completed the study; 68% on amitriptyline and 53% on GBP had moderate or greater pain relief (p > 0.1)	NA
Facchetti et al. ^[81]	Carpal tunnel syndrome	10	DB, P	GBP at 300-1600 mg/day maximum dose vs CBZ 100-600 mg/day × 6wk	VAS, MPQ, Clinical Global Impression of Change	All outcomes statistically significant from baseline for both drugs; no difference between CBZ and GBP	1 withdrawal with CBZ (intolerance) and 1 withdrawal with GBP (skin rash)
Edwards et al. ^[148]	Diabetic polyneuropathy	27	DB, PC, P	TOP 200mg po bid or MTD <i>vs</i> PB × 4wks	Pain scores with VAS SF-MPQ, SFMQ. Assessment of PGIC	TOP better than PB (p = 0.07); trend favouring TOP on PGIC	28% withdrawal rate in TOP arm vs 11% in PB arm; bodyweight loss, asthenia and confusion most common adverse effect
lacobellis et al. ^[149]	Diabetic polyneuropathy	337	DB, PC, P	PGB at 75, 300 or 600 mg/day <i>vs</i> PB × 5wks	Pain scores with 0-10mm VAS, PGIC, SFMQ	PGB at 300 and 600 mg/day better than PB (45.7 and 48% vs 17.5% respectively); significant improvement on PGIC and SFMQ of TOP over PB	Withdrawal rate: 3.7% (PGB 300); 12% (PGB 600); and 3.1% (PB); dizziness and somnolence were most frequent adverse effects

CO = crossover; DB = double-blind; GBP = gabapentin; HIV = human immunodeficiency virus; LTG = lamotrigine; MC = multicentre; MPQ = McGill Pain Questionnaire; MTD = maximum tolerated dose; P = parallel; PB = placebo; PC = placebo-control; PGB = pregabalin; PGIC = Patient Global Impression of Change; pts = patients; NA = data not available; SFMQ = Short Form McGill Questionnaire; TOP = topiramate; VAS = Visual Analog Scale; VAS SF-MPQ = Visual Analogue Scale of the Short Form McGill Pain Questionnaire; wk = weeks.

PDN yielded positive results; the dosage was between 900 and 1800 mg/day, suggesting that higher dosages are more effective for pain control (table IV). [147]

Finally, gabapentin was effective in relieving pain in patients with carpal tunnel syndrome.^[81]

In summary, gabapentin has clearly demonstrated its efficacy in relieving pain and associated symptoms in patients with PDN^[52] and PHN.^[53] The dosages used in these studies ranged from 900 to 3600 mg/day given in 3 divided doses. Gabapentin was well tolerated with no significant difference in adverse events with gabapentin compared with placebo in patients with PDN while patients with PHN had a slightly higher rate of withdrawal than

those receiving placebo (13.3 vs 9.5%, respectively). Dizziness and somnolence were the most frequent tolerable adverse effects. Gabapentin should be tested in other painful conditions such as facial neuralgias (including trigeminal and glossopharyngeal neuralgias), central pain syndromes secondary to cerebrovascular disease, spinal cord injury and phantom limb pain.

Taken together, the increasing evidence from experimental and clinical studies shows that gabapentin is an effective agent for treating neuropathic pain, particularly that due to PDN and PHN. Additional clinical trials are necessary to evaluate the efficacy of gabapentin in CPRS, phantom limb pain,

central poststroke pain syndrome, trigeminal neuralgia and other facial neuralgias.

3.1.7 Topiramate

Unlike gabapentin, lamotrigine and tiagabin, topiramate resembles phenytoin and carbamazepine in that empirical use as an antinociceptive drug in humans came before systematic, planned research on animal models of pain. Topiramate is a sulfamate-substituted derivative of d-fructose with the ability to block Na⁺ channels, enhance GABA activity by interacting with a nonbenzodiazepine site on GABAA receptors, and selectively block AMPA/kainate glutamate receptors.[150] Clinical experience with topiramate is limited; a nonblind trial in patients with several neuropathic pain conditions (excluding diabetic neuropathy) found that patients had significantly better pain scores compared with pretreatment values.^[76] A case report described one patient with post-thoracotomy pain syndrome unresponsive to other anticonvulsants, antidepressants and opiates who had 80% pain relief with topiramate without intolerable adverse effects for over 6 months.[151] In a randomised, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial using oral topiramate 200mg twice a day for 4 weeks, Edwards et al. [148] reported a statistically significant reduction in average pain scores as measured by the visual analog scale of the Short Form McGill Pain Questionnaire. Although not significant in statistical estimations, there was a trend to improvement in the patients' global assessment of change. These results are encouraging and should prompt active research on the antinociceptive effects of topiramate on animal models and in clinical trials.

3.1.8 Pregabalin

Like gabapentin, pregabalin [S-(+)-3-isobutyl-γ-aminobutyric acid] is a GABA analog without proven agonistic effect on GABA receptors. Pregabalin does not appear to interact directly with Na⁺ channels, Ca²⁺ channels or neurotransmitter responses (GABA, glutamate). Pregabalin has been effective in experimental models of neuropathic pain and we have now evidence to suggest that it also works in humans. A randomised, controlled trial

comparing 3 different doses of pregabalin (75, 300 and 600 mg/day orally) with placebo in 337 patients with diabetic polyneuropathy reported significant improvement in pain, sleep, and clinical and global impression of change scores for those who took 300mg or more daily. ^[149] In addition, the withdrawal rate was lower than that seen for other anticonvulsants (12.3% with 600 mg/day). Dizziness, somnolence and peripheral oedema were the most frequent adverse effects reported in this trial. If other clinical trials and clinical experience consistently show similar results, pregabalin will supersede many other anticonvulsants in the treatment of neuropathic pain, at least in diabetic peripheral polyneuropathy.

3.2 Not Yet Studied in Controlled Randomised Clinical Trials

3.2.1 Phenobarbital

Phenobarbital, the first organic antiepileptic drug, has been used in clinical practice since 1912. It was found to enhance synaptic inhibition by interacting with the GABAA receptor and inhibiting voltageactivated Ca2+ channels.[25] Phenobarbital facilitated the GABA IPSP slope by 77% in the rat hippocampus.[124] In addition, phenobarbital significantly suppressed autotomy in the sciatic nerve ligation and dorsal rhizotomy pain models.[152] The suppressive effect on deafferentation behaviour was more potent in the dorsal rhizotomy model, suggesting that phenobarbital is more active in the CNS. Such reduction in the self-mutilating behaviour could not be attributed to a sedative effect. Moreover, intrathecal phenobarbital in rats with acute experimental pain caused a weak antinociceptive effect only after a total dose of 500µg. The effect of phenobarbital on these experimental models of pain appears to be related to its anticonvulsant properties rather than any analgesic effect.

There are no known published reports or clinical trials using phenobarbital in patients with neuropathic pain, so it is unclear at this point whether phenobarbital has any role in the management of this condition.

3.2.2 Felbamate

Felbamate is a dicarbamate that inhibits NMDA-evoked potentials and enhances GABA-evoked responses in hippocampal neurons. [153] Imamura and Bennett [154] tested the effect of felbamate on rats with established heat-hyperalgesia, mechano-hyperalgesia, mechano-allodynia and signs of spontaneous pain. [154] No effect on these endpoints was noted with felbamate 150 mg/kg but significant reductions in all measures of abnormal pain were observed with doses between 300 and 600 mg/kg. The antinociceptive effect of felbamate in these experiments lasted between 2 and 12 hours. Felbamate significantly reduced cold allodynia but not tactile allodynia in rats. [86]

Clinical experience with felbamate in neuropathic pain is limited to a case report in which 3 patients with refractory trigeminal neuralgia received felbamate 400 to 800mg orally 3 times daily. [99] All 3 patients reported complete or near complete analgesia. However, in the same article, Cheshire^[99] briefly reports the use of felbamate in 5 other patients with dysesthetic PHN, without success. He reasoned that tonic, dysesthetic pain was less likely to respond to anticonvulsants. The precise mechanisms underlying these differences in analgesic response to anticonvulsant drugs are still not well understood. Given its potential for fatal toxicity of the bone marrow and the liver, the use of felbamate is restricted to some patients with refractory epilepsy. Its use in treatment of pain conditions is not warranted given the existence of many other alternatives.

3.2.3 Vigabatrin, Zonisamide and Tiagabine

Vigabatrin is an anticonvulsant that induces selective and irreversible inhibition of γ -aminobutyric acid aminotransferase (GABA-T), the enzyme that catabolises GABA. Vigabatrin was not approved in the US by the Federal Drug Administration (FDA) because of retinal toxicity but it is widely used in other countries for the treatment of infantile spasms and other difficult to treat epilepsies. A group of Brazilian researchers have described an antinociceptive effect of vigabatrin in an animal model of neuropathic pain. [155] The results showed

a possible dose-dependent analgesic effect of vigabatrin (γ -vinyl-GABA) on experimental neuropathic pain, as shown by the significant (p < 0.05) decreasing effect of vigabatrin on scratching and by its significant (p < 0.05) increasing effect on the latency of the right hindpaw withdrawal of the animals to noxious thermal stimuli. At the time of this writing there are no published data about the antinociceptive properties of zonisamide in animal models of neuropathic pain.

Tiagabine is a nipecotic acid derivative that enhances GABA-mediated inhibitory neurotransmission. This antiepileptic drug inhibits presynaptic neuronal and glial GABA uptake by binding reversibly and saturably with the GABA uptake carriers GAT-1 and GAT-3.[156] Tiagabine induces dose-dependent and long-lasting antinociception in the hot-plate, paw pressure, tight nerve ligation, acetic acid-induced stretching and abdominal constriction tests but not in the tail-flick model. [157,158] This antinociceptive effect appears to be mediated by GABA_B receptors since it can be completely antagonised by pretreatment with a selective GABA_B receptor antagonist.^[157] No case reports or trials using tiagabine have been published but these experimental data suggest that the use of tiagabine in patients with neuropathic pain is the next step.

Evidence from nonblind studies (table II) frequently provides positive results, which then sets the stage for randomised clinical trials. It is the results from clinical trials that ultimately provide the evidence for therapeutic efficacy (table III).

4. Future Directions

Research into the mechanisms of neuropathic pain has provided an unprecedented opportunity to glimpse the complexity that underlies neuropathic pain, and from this we have identified several possible targets for therapy. Early developments in this direction have yielded positive results. It is now clear that the mechanisms underlying chronic neuropathic pain not only include inadequacies of the opioid system but a whole cascade of biological changes that occur in the peripheral and central nervous systems, which is termed neuroplasticity.

Thus, any new approach has to take into account these mechanisms.

Research into the mechanisms of neuropathic pain, and in particular its biochemical and molecular mechanisms, should yield results that lead to the development of specific therapeutic recommendations. With many specific nervous system effects related to those mechanisms, anticonvulsants will continue to offer an alternative approach in the treatment of neuropathic pain.

Randomised clinical trials have demonstrated the efficacy of anticonvulsants in relieving neuropathic pain in PDN, PHN and trigeminal neuralgia, with a new standard being set by studies into gabapentin. Future studies in this field will have to be comprehensive. Consequently, they should include not only the primary outcome of pain relief but also the effects on associated symptoms such as sleep and quality of life. The next step would be to design studies based on pain mechanisms so that, in addition to demonstrating pain relief, they answer the question as to which pain mechanism is most responsible for the maintenance of a particular neuropathic pain syndrome, regardless of its aetiology. Helpful tools, such as quantitative sensory testing[159,160] and the neuropathic pain questionnaire,[161] already exist and can be used in clinical trials, although further advances in these tools need to be made before they can be easily implemented in clinical practice and clinical research trials.

For practical as well as for mechanisms-based analysis, it is important to design studies in which pharmacological agents, including anticonvulsants with different mechanisms of action, are compared with each other. Similarly, randomised trials of drugs used in combination will be the next important step in the development of more effective regimens to treat neuropathic pain.

5. Conclusion and Recommendations

From the information presented in this article, it appears that anticonvulsants are and will be increasingly important in the management of neuropathic pain syndromes.

On the strength of current evidence, the most effective anticonvulsant agent for the treatment of neuropathic pain is gabapentin. In two large multicentre studies and a study in which gabapentin was compared with amitriptyline, gabapentin has clearly demonstrated efficacy in relieving PDN and PHN pain. It appears that the therapeutic dosage for neuropathic pain is 1800 mg/day or higher given in 3 divided doses. The evidence that gabapentin can relieve two types of neuropathic pain is a strong argument for considering gabapentin early in the treatment of neuropathic pain in general. Gabapentin has relatively well-tolerated adverse effects, a lack of organ toxicity and no evidence of a significant interaction with other medications, making this agent very attractive as a first choice in the treatment of neuropathic pain. This is particularly the case in the elderly who are sensitive to medications and who frequently take many other medications. The financial cost of gabapentin compared with other drugs is an issue, but cost-effectiveness analyses should take into account the improvement of quality of life, the provision of adequate pain relief and the potential reintegration of patients to a more active life with less disability.

It is clear that, with a reasonable degree of confidence, we can continue to recommend carbamazepine as the treatment of choice for trigeminal neuralgia. Carbamazepine is also to be considered as one of the first-line drugs - along with tricyclic antidepressants and gabapentin — for the treatment of PDN, although comparative studies should help to delineate specific roles for each. The evidence that carbamazepine can relieve 2 types of neuropathic pain would be a sufficient argument to suggest that carbamazepine should be considered early in the treatment of neuropathic pain in general. It appears that to achieve therapeutic effects the dose should be titrated to the target effect or to standard doses leading to a serum concentration of 6 to 10 μ g/L.

With mounting data from ongoing and future clinical trials, the role of both the older and newer anticonvulsants in the management of neuropathic pain will be better established.

We are well aware that rapid developments in the pharmaceutical industry and an increasing number of clinical trials will lead to an upsurge of information, which may render this review outdated within a few years. However, in addition to the literature review, we have also attempted to provide a framework or a reference point for future reviews of a similar kind.

References

- Mitchell SW, Morehouse GR, Keen WW. Gunshot wounds and other injuries of nerves. Philadelphia: JB Lippincott & Co., 1864
- Bennett GJ, Xie YK. A peripheral mononeuropathy in the rat that produces disorders of pain sensation like those seen in man. Pain 1988; 33: 87-107
- Casey K. Pain and central nervous system disease: a summary and overview. In: Casey K, editor. Pain and central nervous system disease: central pain syndromes. New York: Raven Press, 1991: 1-11
- Wall PD, Gutnick M. Properties of afferent nerve impulses originating from a neuroma. Nature 1974; 248: 740-3
- Seltzer Z, Dubner R, Shir Y. A novel behavioral model of neuropathic pain disorders produced in rats by partial sciatic nerve injury. Pain 1990; 43: 205-18
- Chung K, Lee BH, Yoon YW, et al. Sympathetic sprouting in the dorsal root ganglia of the injured peripheral nerve in a rat neuropathic pain model. J Comp Neurol 1996; 376: 241-52
- DeLeo JA, Coombs DW, Willenbring S, et al. Characterization of a neuropathic pain model: sciatic cryoneurolysis in the rat. Pain 1994; 56: 9-16
- Maves TJ, Pechman PS, Gebhart PS, et al. Possible chemical contribution from chronic gut sutures produces disorders of pain sensation like those seen in man. Pain 1993; 54: 57-69
- LaMotte RH, Lundberg LE, Todjebork HE. Pain, hyperalgesia and activity in nociceptive C units in humans after intradermal injection of capsaicin. J Physiol 1992; 448: 749-64
- Bennett G. An animal model of neuropathic pain: a review. Muscle Nerve 1993; 16: 1040-8
- Dickenson A. Spinal cord pharmacology of pain. Br J Anaesth 1995; 75: 193-200
- Neumann S, Doubell TP, Leslie T, et al. Inflammatory pain sensitivity mediated by phenotypic switch in myelinated primary senory neurons. Nature 1996; 384: 360-4
- Coderre TJ, Melzack R. The contribution of excitatory aminoacids to central sensitization and persistent nociception after formalin-induced tissue injury. J Neurosci 1992; 12: 3665-70
- Jett MF, McGuirk J, Waligora D, et al. The effects of mexiletine, desipramine and fluoxetine in rat models involving central sensitization. Pain 1997; 69: 161-9
- Kolzenburg M, Torebjork HE, Wahren LK. Nociceptor modulated central sensitization causes mechanical hyperalgesia in acute chemogenic and chronic neurogenic pain. Brain 1994; 117: 579-91
- 16. Woolf CJ, Thompson SW. The induction and maintenance of central sensitization is dependent on N-methyl-D-aspartic acid receptor activation; implications for the treatment of post-injury pain hypersensitivity states. Pain 1991; 44: 293-9
- Ochoa JL, Yarnitsky D. Mechanical hyperalgesias in neuropathic pain patients: dynamic and static subtypes. Ann Neurol 1993; 33: 465-72

- Gottrup H, Nielsen J, Arendt-Nielsen L, et al. The relationship between sensor thresholds and mechanical hyperalgesia in nerve injury. Pain 1998; 75: 321-9
- Kolzenburg M, Lundberg LE, Torebjork HE. Dynamic and static components of mechanical hyperalgesia in human hairy skin. Pain 1992; 51: 207-19
- Cline MA, Ochoa J, Torebjork HE. Chronic hyperalgesia and skin warming caused by sensitized C nociceptors. Brain 1989; 112: 621-47
- LaMotte RH, Thalhammer JG, Torebjork HE, et al. Peripheral neural mechanisms of cutaneous hyperalgesia following mild injury by heat. J Neurosci 1982; 2: 765-81
- Coderre TJ, Melzack R. Cutaneous hyperalgesia: contributions
 of the peripheral and central nervous system to the increase
 in pain sensitivity after injury. Brain Res 1987; 404: 95-106
- Craig AD, Bushnell MC. The thermal grill illusion: unmasking the burn of cold pain. Science 1994; 265: 252-5
- Thomas R. Excitatory amino acids in health and disease. J Am Geriatr Soc 1995: 43: 1279-89
- McNamara J. Drugs acting on the central nervous system. In: Harman G, Limbird LE, Morinoff PB, et al., editors. Goodman's and Gilman's the pharmacological basis of therapeutics. New York: McGraw-Hill, 1996: 461-86
- Sotah M, Foong FW. A mechanism of carbamazepine analgesia as shown by bradykinin-induced trigeminal pain. Brain Res Bull 1983; 10: 407-9
- Burchiel K. carbamazepine inhibits spontaneous activity in experimental neuromas. Exp Neurol 1988; 102: 249-53
- Chapman V, Suzuki R, Chamarette HL, et al. Effects of systemic carbamazepine and gabapentin on spinal neuronal responses in spinal nerve ligated rats. Pain 1998; 75: 261-72
- Tanelian DL, Cousins MJ. Combined neurogenic and nociceptive pain in a patient with Pancoast tumor managed by epidural hydromorphone and oral carbamazepine. Pain 1989; 36: 85.8
- Tanelian DL, MacIver MB. Analgesic concentrations of lidocaine suppress tonic A-delta and C fiber discharges produced by acute injury. Anesthesiology 1991; 74: 934-6
- Blom S. Trigeminal neuralgia: its treatment with a new anticonvulsant drug. Lancet 1962; I: 839-40
- Blom S. Tic douloureoux treated with new anticonvulsants. Arch Neurol 1963; 9: 285-90
- Campbell FG, Graham JG, Zikha KJ. Clinical trial of carbamazepine (Tegretol) in trigeminal neuralgia. J Neurosurg Neurol Psychiatry 1966; 29: 265-7
- Killian JM, Fromm GH. Carbamazepine in the treatment of neuralgia. Arch Neurol 1968; 19: 129-36
- Rull JA, Quibrera R, González-Millan H, et al. Symptomatic treatment of peripheral diabetic neuropathy with carbamazepine: double-blind crossover study. Diabetologia 1969; 5: 215-20
- Nicol C. A four year double blind randomized study of tegretol in facial pain. Headache 1969; 9: 54-7
- Wilton T. Tegretol in the treatment of diabetic neuropathy. S Afr Med J 1974; 27: 869-72
- Vilming ST, Lyberg T, Lataste X. Tizanidine in the management of trigeminal neuralgia. Cephalalgia 1986; 6: 181-2
- Lindstrom P, Lindblom U. The analgesic effect of tocainide in trigeminal neuralgia. Pain 1987; 28: 45-50
- Lechin F, van der Dijs B, Lechin ME, et al. Pimozide therapy for trigeminal neuralgia. Arch Neurol 1989; 46: 960-3
- Leijon G, Boivie J. Central post-stroke pain: a controlled trial of amitriptyline and carbamazepine. Pain 1989; 36: 27-36

- 42. Gomez-Perez FJ, Choza R, Ríos JM, et al. Nortriptylinefluphenazine vs. carbamazepine in the symptomatic treatment of diabetic neuropathy. Arch Med Res 1996; 27: 525-9
- Saudek CD, Werns S, Reidenberg MM. Phenytoin in the treatment of diabetic symmetrical polyneuropathy. Clin Pharmacol Ther 1977; 22: 196-9
- Chadda VS, Mathur MS. Double blind study of the effects of dyphenylhidantoin sodium in diabetic neuropathy. J Assoc Phys India 1978; 26: 403-6
- 45. Yajnik S, Singh GP, Singh G, et al. Phenytoin as a coanalgesic in cancer pain. J Pain Symptom Manage 1992; 7: 209-13
- McCleane GJ. Intravenous infusion of phenytoin relieves neuropathic pain: a randomized, double-blinded, placebocontrolled, crossover study. Anesth Analg 1999; 89: 985-8
- Max MB, Schafer SC, Culnane M, et al. Amitriptyline, but not lorazepam, relieves postherpetic neuralgia. Neurology 1988; 38: 1427-32
- Drewes AM, Andreasen A, Poulsen LH. Valproate for treatment of chronic central pain after spinal cord injury: a double-blind cross-over study. Paraplegia 1994; 32: 565-9
- Zakrzewska JM, Chaudhry Z, Nurmikko TJ, et al. Lamotrigine (Lamictal) in refractory trigeminal neuralgia: results from a double-blind placebo controlled crossover trial. Pain 1997; 73: 223-30
- Simpson DM, Olney R, McArthur JC, et al. A placebo-controlled trial of lamotrigine for painful HIV-associated neuropathy. Neurology 2000; 54: 2115-19
- McCleane G. 200 mg daily of lamotrigine has no analgesic effect in neuropathic pain: a randomised, double-blind, placebo controlled trial. Pain 1999; 83: 105-7
- Backonja M, Beydoun A, Edwards KR, et al. Gabapentin for the symptomatic treatment of painful neuropathy in patients with diabetes mellitus: a randomized controlled trial. JAMA 1998; 280: 1831-6
- Rowbotham M, Harden N, Stacey B, et al. Gabapentin for the treatment of post-herpetic neuralgia: a randomized controlled trial. JAMA 1998; 280: 1837-42
- 54. Morello CM, Leckband SG, Stoner CP, et al. Randomized double-blind study comparing the efficacy of gabapentin with amitriptyline on diabetic peripheral neuropathy pain. Arch Intern Med 1999; 159: 1931-7
- Webb J, Kamali F. Analgesic effects of lamotrigine and phenytoin on cold-induced pain: a crossover placebo-controlled study in healthy volunteers. Pain 1998; 76: 357-63
- Rockliff BW, Davis EH. Controlled sequential trials of carbamazepine in trigeminal neuralgia. Arch Neurol 1966; 15: 129-36
- Gerson GR, Jones RB, Luscombe DK. Studies on the concomitant use of carbamazepine and clomipramine for the relief of post-herpetic neuralgia. Postgrad Med J 1977; 53: 104-9
- Spillane J. The treatment of trigeminal neuralgia. Practitioner 1964; 192: 71-7
- Raskin NH, Levinson SA, Hoffman PM, et al. Postsympathectomy neuralgia: amelioration with diphenylhidantoin and carbamazepine. Am J Surg 1974; 128: 75-8
- Chakrabarti AK, Sawantaray SK. Diabetic peripheral neuropathy: nerve conduction studies before, during, and after carbamazepine therapy. Aust N Z J Med 1976; 6: 565-8
- Tomson T, Tybring G, Bertilsson L. carbamazepine therapy in trigeminal neuralgia: clinical effects in relation to plasma concentration. Arch Neurol 1980; 37: 699-703
- 62. Taylor J, Espir ML, Brauer S. Long-term treatment of trigeminal neuralgia with carbamazepine. Postgrad Med J 1981; 57:

- Peiris JB, Perera GLS, Dvendra SV, et al. Sodium valproate in trigeminal neuralgia. Med J Aust 1980; 2: 278-9
- Swerdlow M, Cundill JG. Anticonvulsant drugs in the treatment of lancinating pain: a comparison. Anaesthesia 1981; 36: 1129-32
- Caccia M. Clonazepam in facial neuralgia and cluster headache: clinical and electrophysiological study. Eur Neurol 1975; 13: 560-3
- Court JE, Kase CS. Treatment of tic douloureux with a new anticonvulsant (Clonazepam). J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry 1976; 39: 297-9
- Smirne S, Scarlato G. Clonazepam in cranial neuralgias. Med J Aust 1977; 1: 93-4
- Bouckhoms AJ, Litman RE. Clonazepam in the treatment of neuralgic pain syndrome. Psychosomatics 1985; 26: 933-6
- Rosenberg JM, Harrell C, Ristic H, et al. The effect of gabapentin on neuropathic pain. Clin J Pain 1997; 13: 251-5
- Attal N, Brasseur L, Parker F, et al. Effects of gabapentin on different components of peripheral and central neuropathic pain syndromes: a pilot study. Eur Neurol 1998; 40: 191-200
- Solaro C, Lunardi GL, Capello E, et al. An open-label trial of gabapentin treatment of paroxysmal symptoms in multiple sclerosis patients. Neurology 1998; 51: 609-11
- Canavero S, Bonicalzi V. Lamotrigine control of trigeminal neuralgia. J Neurol 1997; 244: 527-32
- Lunardi GL, Leandri M, Albano C, et al. Clinical effectiveness of lamotrigine and plasma levels in essential and symptomatic trigeminal neuralgia. Neurology 1997; 48: 1714-7
- Eisenberg E, Alon N, Ishay A, et al. Lamotrigine in the treatment of painful diabetic neuropathy. Eur J Neurol 1998; 5: 167-73
- Cianchetti C, Zuddas A, Randazzo AP, et al. Lamotrigine adjunctive therapy in painful phenomena in MS: preliminary observations [abstract]. Neurology 1999; 53: 433
- Potter D, Edwards KR, Bennington VT. Potential role of topiramate in relief of neuropathic pain [abstract]. Neurology 1998; 50: A255
- Woodforde JM, Dwyer B, McEwen B. Treatment of post-herpetic neuralgia. Med J Aust 1965; 1: 869-72
- Carasso RL, Yehuda S, Streifler M. Clomipramine and amitriptyline in the treatment of severe pain. Int J Neuroscience 1979; 9: 191-4
- Watson CP, Evans RJ, Reed K. Amitriptyline versus placebo in pos herpetic neuralgia. Neurology 1982; 32: 671-3
- Watson CP, Evans RJ. A comparative trial of amitriptyline and simelidine in post herpetic neuralgia. Pain 1985; 23: 387-94
- Facchetti D, Chiroli S, Bascelli C, et al. Gabapentin (GBP) versus carbamazepine in conservative treatment of carpal tunnel syndrome [abstract]. Neurology 1999; 52: A203
- Bergouignan M. Cures heureuses de nevralgies faciales essentielles par diphenyl-hidantoinate de soude. Rev Laryngol Otol Rhinol 1942; 63: 34-41
- Swerdlow M. Anticonvulsant drugs and chronic pain. Clin Neuropharmacol 1984; 7: 51-82
- Yaari Y, Devor M. Phenytoin suppresses spontaneous ectopic discharge in rat sciatic nerve neuromas. Neurosci Lett 1985; 58: 117-22
- Duckrow RB, Taub A. The effect of diphenylhydantoin on selfmutilation in rats produced by unilateral multiple dorsal rhizotomy. Exp Neurol 1977; 54: 33-41
- Hunter JC, Gogas KR, Hedley LR, et al. The effect of novel anti-epileptic drugs in rat experimental models of acute and chronic pain. Eur J Pharmacol 1997; 324: 153-60

- McQuay H, Carroll D, Jadad A, et al. Anticonvulsant drugs for management of pain: a systematic review. BMJ 1995; 311: 1047-52
- 88. Ellenberg M. Treatment of diabetic neuropathy with diphenylhidantoin. N Y State J Med 1968; 68: 2653-6
- Dallocchio C, Buffa C, Mazzarello P, et al. Gabapentin versus amitriptyline in painful diabetic neuropathy in the elderly. Neurology 1998; 50: A102-3
- Savitskaya O. Comparative effectiveness of anti-epileptic preparations in treatment of patients with neuralgia of the trigeminal nerve. Zh Nevropatol Psikhiatr Im S S Korsakova 1980; 80: 530-5
- 91. Taylor J. Trigeminal neuralgia treated with G 32.883. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry 1963; 26: 553-4
- Braunhofer J, Zikha L. Eroffnet Tegretal neue Therapiemoglichkeiten bei bestimmten neurologischen und endokrinen Krankheitsbildern? Eine klinische elektroenzephalographische und dunnschichtchromatographische Studie. Med Welt 1966; 36: 1875-80
- 93. Dalessio DJ, Abbott K. A new agent in the treatment of tic douloureoux. Headache 1966; 5: 103-7
- Javid M, Dardenne G. Evaluation of carbamazepine in the management of tic douloureux and other painful disorders. Wis Med J 1969; 68: 95-101
- Rasmussen P, Riishede J. Facial pain treated with carbamazepine (Tegretol). Acta Neurol Scand 1970; 46: 385-408
- 96. Lemoyne J. Le traitement de la névralgie faciale essentielle par le dimethyl-dithio-hydantoine. Concours Med 1951; 73: 461-3
- 97. Jensen H. Die Behandlung der Trigeminusneuralgie mit Diphenylhidantoin. Arztl Wschr 1954; 9: 105-8
- 98. Braham I, Saia A. Phenytoin in the treatment of trigeminal and other neuralgias. Lancet 1960; II: 892-3
- Cheshire W. Felbamate relieved trigeminal neuralgia. Clin J Pain 1995; 11: 139-42
- Valzania F, Strafella A, Nassetti SA, et al. Gabapentin in idiopathic trigeminal neuralgia [abstract]. Neurology 1998; 50: A379
- La Spina I, Porazzi D, Maggiolo F, et al. Gabapentin (GBP) in painful AIDS-related neuropathy [abstract]. Neurology 1999;
 A190
- 102. Gatti A, Stefano J, Beretta S, et al. Gabapentin in the treatment of distal symmetric axonopathy in HIV infected patients [abstract]. Neurology 1998; 50: A216
- Elliott F, Little A, Milbrandt W. Carbamazepine for phantomlimb phenomena [abstract]. N Engl J Med 1976; 295: 678
- 104. Harbison J, Dennehy F, Keating D. Lamotrigine for pain with hyperalgesia. Irish Med J 1997; 90: 56
- Bartusch SL, Sanders BJ, D'Alessio JG, et al. Clonazepam for the treatment of lancinating phantom limb pain. Clin J Pain 1996; 12: 59-62
- Esmir ML, Millac P. Treatment of paroxysmal disorders in multiple sclerosis with carbamazepine (Tegretol). J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry 1970; 33: 528-31
- Shibasaki H, Kuroiwa Y. Painful tonic seizure in multiple sclerosis. Arch Neurol 1974; 30: 47-51
- Khan O. Gabapentin relieves trigeminal neuralgia in multiple sclerosis patients. Neurology 1998; 51: 611-4
- McCleane G. Lamotrigine can reduce neurogenic pain associated with multiple sclerosis. Clin J Pain 1998; 14: 269-70
- Chaturvedi S. Phenytoin in reflex sympathetic dystrophy. Pain 1989; 36: 379-80
- Mellick GA, Mellick LB. Gabapentin in the management of reflex sympathetic dystrophy. J Pain Symptom Manage 1995; 10: 265-6

- Rosner H, Rubin L, Kestenbaum A. Gabapentin adjunctive therapy in neuropathic pain states. Clin J Pain 1996; 12: 56-8
- 113. Sist TC, Filadora VA, Miner M, et al. Experience with gabapentin for neuroapthic pain in the head and neck: report of ten cases. Reg Anesth 1997; 22: 473-8
- 114. Merren M. Gabapentin for treatment of pain and tremor. South Med J 1998; 91: 739-44
- 115. Caraceni A, Zecca E, Martini C, et al. Gabapentin as an adjuvant to opioid analgesia for neuropathic cancer pain. J Pain Symptom Manage 1999; 17: 441-5
- Gibson JC, White LC. Denervation hyperpathia: a convulsive syndrome of the spinal cord responsive to carbamazepine therapy [letter]. J Neurosurg 1971; 35: 287
- Fine W. Post hemiplegic epilepsy in the elderly. BMJ 1967; 1 (534): 199-201
- Cantor F. Phenytoin treatment of thalamic pain [letter]. BMJ 1972; 2: 590
- Agnew DA, Goldberg VD. A brief trial of phenytoin for thalamic pain. Bull Los Angeles Neurol Soc 1976; 41: 9-12
- Allen R. Neuropathic pain in the cancer patient. Neurol Clin North Am 1998; 16: 869-7
- Sawynok J. GABAergic mechanisms of analgesia: an update. Pharmacol Biochem Behav 1987; 26: 463-74
- 122. Yasuda T, Iwamoto T, Ohara M, et al. The novel analgesic compound OT-7100 attenuates mechanical nociceptive responses in animal models of acute and peripheral neuropathic hyperalgesia. Jap J Pharmacol 1999; 79: 65-73
- Bouckoms A. Intravenous lorazepam for pain relief of intractable neuralgia. Pain 1987; Suppl. 4: S347
- 124. Ko GY, Brown-Croyts LM, Teyler T. The effects of anticonvulsant drugs on NMDA-EPSP, AMPA-EPSP, and GABA-IPSP in the rat hippoccampus. Brain Res Bull 1997; 42: 297-302
- Shuto K, Nishiyaki T. Sodium dipropylacetate. Pharmacometrics 1970; 4: 937-49
- Mesdjian E, DeFeudis FV, Valli M, et al. Antinociceptive action of sodium valproate in the mouse. Gen Pharmacol 1983; 14: 697-9
- 127. Abulaban FS, Dhariwal MAH, Al-Bekairi AM, et al. Antinociceptive activity of sodium valproate in mice after chronic treatment. Gen Pharmacol 1997; 29: 463-7
- 128. Lee WS, Limmroth V, Ayala C, et al. Peripheral GABA-A receptor-mediated effects of sodium valproate on dural plasma protein extravasation to subsance P and trigeminal stimulation. Br J Pharmacol 1995; 116: 1661-7
- Cutrer FM, Moskowitz MA. The actions of valproate and neurosteroids in a model of trigeminal pain. Headache 1996; 36: 579-85
- Alley KO, Kulkarni SK. GABAergic agents-induced antinociceptive effect in mice. Methods Find Exp Clin Pharmacol 1989; 11: 597-601
- Raftery H. The management of post herpetic pain using sodium valproate and amitriptyline. Irish Med J 1979; 72: 399-401
- Bowsher D, Lahuerta J, Nelson A. A case of tabes dorsalis with tonic pupils and lightning pains relieved by sodium valproate.
 J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry 1987; 50: 239-41
- 133. Leach MJ, Marden CM, Miller AA. Pharmacological studies on lamotrigine, a novel potential antiepileptic drug. II. Neurochemical studies on the mechanism of action. Epilepsia 1986; 27: 490-7
- 134. Nakamura-Craig M, Follenfant R. Analgesic reffects of lamotrigine in an experimental model of neuropathic pain in rats [abstract]. Br J Pharmacol 1992; 107: 337P

- 135. Nakamura-Craig M, Follenfant R. Effect of lamotrigine in the acute and chronic hyperalgesia induced by PGE2 and in the chronic hyperalgesia in rats with streptozotocin-induced diabetes. Pain 1995; 63: 33-7
- 136. Klamt J. Effects of intrathecally administered lamotrigine, a glutamate release inhibitor, on short- and long-term models of hyperalgesia in rats. Anesthesiology 1998; 88: 487-94
- 137. Kukushkin ML, Danilova EI, Grafova VN, et al. Effect of lamotrigine on the development of neurogenic pain syndrome in rats. Bull Exp Biol Med 1998; 125: 517-21
- Taylor CP, Gee NS, Su T-Z, et al. A summary of mechanistic hypotheses of gabapentin pharmacology. Epilepsy Res 1998; 29: 233-49
- 139. Field MJ, McCleary S, Hughes J, et al. Gabapentin and pregabalin, but not morphine and amitriptyline, block both static and dynamic components of mechanical allodynia induced by streptozocin in the rat. Pain 1999; 80: 391-8
- 140. Abdi S, Lee DH, JM. C. The anti-allodynic effects of amytriptyline, gabapentin, and lidocaine in a rat model of neuropathic pain. Anesth Analg 1998; 87: 1360-6
- 141. Pan H-L, Eisenach JC, Chung JM. Gabapentin suppresses ectopic nerve discharges. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 1999; 288: 1026-30
- 142. Gillin S, Sorkin LS. Gabapentin reverses the allodynia produced by the administration of anti-GD2 ganglioside, and immunotherapeutic drug. Anesth Analg 1998; 86: 111-6
- 143. Petroff OA, Rothman DL, Behar KL, et al. The effect of gabapentin on brain gamma-aminobutyric acid in patients with epilepsy. Ann Neurol 1996; 39: 95-9
- 144. Mancardi G, Messmer Uccelli M, Murialdo A, et al. Gabapentin is effective in treating nocturnal painful spasms in muktiple sclerosis [abstract]. Neurology 1999; 52: A134
- 145. Vinik A, Fonseca V, Lamoeaux L, et al. Neurontin (Gabapentin, GBP) improves quality of life (QOL) in patients with painful diabetic peripheral neuropathy [abstract]. Diabetes 1998; 46: A374
- 146. Gorson KC, Schott C, Rand WM, et al. Gabapentin in the treatment of painful diabetic neuropathy: a placebo-controlled, double-blind, crossover trial [abstract]. Neurology 1998; 50: A103
- 147. Morello CM, Leckbrand SG, Stoner CP. Effect of gabapentin compared to amitriptyline on pain in diabetic peripheral neuropathy [abstract]. Diabetes 1998; 47: A134
- 148. Edwards K, Glantz MJ, Button J, et al. Efficacy and safety of topiramate in the treatment of painful diabetic neuropathy: a double-blind, placebo-controlled study [abstract S15.001]. Neurology 2000; 54 S3: A81

- 149. Iacobellis D, Allen R, Lamoreaux L, et al. A double-blind, placebo-control trial of pregabalin for the treatment of painful diabetic peripheral neuropathy [abstract P03.049]. Neurology 2000; 54 S3: A177
- Schneidermann J. Topiramate: pharmacokinetics and pharmacodinamics. Can J Neurol Sci 1998; 25: S3-5
- Sajwa ZH, Sami N, Warfield CA, et al. Topiramate relieves refractory intercostal neuralgia. Neurology 1999; 52: 1917
- 152. González-Darder JM, Ortega-Alvaro A, Rui-Franzi I, et al. Antinociceptive effects of phenobarbital in 'tail-flick' and deafferentation pain. Anesth Analg 1992; 75: 81-6
- 153. Rho JM, Donevan SD, Rogawski MA. Mechanism of action of the anticonvulsant felbamate: opposing effects on N-Methyl-D-aspartate and GABA-A receptors. Ann Neurol 1994; 36: 677-8
- 154. Imamura Y, Bennett GJ. Felbamate relieves several abnormal pain sensations in rats with an experimental peripheral neuropathy. J Pharm Exp Ther 1995; 275: 177-82
- 155. Alves ND, de Castro-Costa CM, de Carvalho AM, et al. Possible analgesic effect of vigabatrin in animal experimental chronic neuropathic pain. Arq Neuropsiquiatr 1999; 57: 916-20
- 156. Leach JP, Brodie MJ. Tiagabine. Lancet 1998; 351: 203-7
- 157. Giardina WJ, Decker MW, Porsolt RD, et al. An evaluation of the GABA uptake blocker tiagabine in animal models of neuropathic and nociceptive pain. Drug Dev Res 1998; 44: 106-13
- 158. Ipponi A, Lamberti C, Medica A, et al. Tiagabine nociception in rodents depends on GABA-B receptor activation: parallel antinociception testing and medial hypothalamus GABA microdyalisis. Eur J Pharmacol 1999; 368: 205-11
- 159. Yarnitsky D. Quantitative sensory testing. Muscle Nerve 1997; 20: 198-204
- 160. Bouhassira D, Attal N, Willer JC, et al. Painful and painless peripheral sensory neuropathies due to HIV infection: a comparison using quantitative sensory stimulation. Pain 1999; 80: 265-72
- 161. Galer BS, Jensen MP. Development and preliminary validation of a pain measure specific to neuropathic pain: the neuropathic pain scale. Neurology 1997; 48: 332-8

Correspondence and offprints: Dr Misha-Miroslav Backonja, University of Wisconsin Hospital and Clinics, Department of Neurology, Room H6/574, 600 Highland Avenue, Madison, WI 53792-5132, USA.

E-mail: backonja@neurology.wisc.edu